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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Good morning.  I

          3  am Council Member Addabbo.  I am Chair of the Parks

          4  and Recreation Committee, and welcome to the Parks

          5  and Recreation Committee Hearing.  Again, good to

          6  see everyone here.  I hope everyone is dry today, I

          7  know it's a tough one today.  Again, thank you very

          8  much for coming.

          9                 Last month this committee, on

         10  September 9th, we had introduced, and entertained

         11  the idea of approving eighty-one (81) name changes

         12  to our streets, and areas that basically were

         13  honoring those who were lost on 9/11.

         14                 These name changes were unanimously

         15  voted on by this Committee and approved, later on

         16  approved, by the entire City Council, and then

         17  signed into law by the Mayor, on September 27th.

         18                 Today, we are taking another step

         19  forward in honoring those who were lost on that

         20  tragic day, by holding a hearing on the planting of

         21   "Freedom Trees".  The planting of "Freedom Trees"

         22  throughout the City will symbolize the City's

         23  recognition for the sons, daughters, mothers,

         24  fathers, and friends who were lost on 9/11.  These

         25   "Freedom Trees" would join both current and future

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  memorials done throughout the City.

          3                 At this point, I want to thank a

          4  couple of people. I want to thank Vicky Schneps from

          5  the Courier.  Also, my colleague, James Sanders for

          6  rekindling the memorial of the former "Liberty

          7  Trees" that were planted for the lost patriots of

          8  years ago, and furthering the idea of "Freedom

          9  Trees" in the City Council.  I want to thank you all

         10  again for joining us today, as we hear testimony on

         11  the up- to- date information regarding the "Freedom

         12  Trees", as we embark on planting of a living

         13  memorial, "The Freedom Tree".

         14                 At this point I want to introduce the

         15  Committee Members who are here with me today.  To my

         16  far right we have Council Member Helen Sears, we

         17  have Council Member Robert Jackson. To my left, we

         18  have Council Member Helen Foster, and Council Member

         19  Erik Dilan.  And we have Council Member Alan Gerson,

         20  and somewhere in here I saw Council member, a good

         21  colleague of mine, and again the one who had

         22  rekindled the idea of "Freedom Trees", Council

         23  Member James Sanders.

         24                 At this point we are going to hear

         25  testimony on our first panel is Deputy Commissioner
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          2  Liam Kavanagh, and Fiona Watt from The Department of

          3  Parks and Recreation.

          4                 Commissioner, good to see you.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Thank

          6  you, and good afternoon.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

          7  and members of the Parks Committee.

          8                 My name is Liam Kavanagh.  I am the

          9  Deputy Commissioner for Operations, in Parks and

         10  Recreation.  With me today is Fiona Watt, our Chief

         11  of Forestry and Horticulture.  On behalf of

         12  Commissioner Adrian Benepe, I am pleased to be here

         13  to discuss the "Freedom Trees" concept.  New York's

         14  parks have served throughout the City's history as

         15  village greens, arenas for public discourse, and

         16  places for people to celebrate, and commemorate the

         17  past.  There are over one- thousand sculptures and

         18  monuments in our parks.  With very rare exception,

         19  these are monuments to individuals and events, and

         20  not grave sites.  They are natural, manmade

         21  memorials to a shared experience.  As many of you

         22  may remember, parks became some of the first places

         23  that people gathered in, in the aftermath of the

         24  September 11th attacks. People came, both to seek

         25  company in mourning, and comfort in community.

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 The "Freedom Trees" proposal will

          3  build off of this idea, and would fit into a

          4  Citywide plan, that Parks and Recreation is

          5  exploring for the development of an urban forest, as

          6  a limited memorial for September 11th victims.  This

          7  plan could include the creation of memorial groves

          8  and existing parks, and planting street trees where

          9  appropriate.  You may recall, that last fall the

         10  Parks Department, in cooperation with the then Parks

         11  Council, and now New Yorkers for Parks, initiated a

         12  program called "The Daffodil Project", which sought

         13  to plant daffodils in parks and public places

         14  throughout the City, as a first step in creating

         15  living memorials to the victims of the World Trade

         16  Center attack.  We were fortunate to receive

         17  generous donations of tulip bulbs from B K Bulbs in

         18  the City of Rotterdam, and we all saw how beautiful

         19  those displays were this spring.  Thanks again to

         20  the generosity of B K Bulbs, we will be initiating a

         21  reprise of that project, starting this Saturday,

         22  with our annual, "It's My Park", clean up day, in

         23  the five boroughs.  We will planting another 500,000

         24    bulbs as sort of a second installment on that

         25  living memorial concept.
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          2                 As the City's principal steward for

          3  over two and a half million (sic) trees, Parks and

          4  Recreation needs to be involved in all aspects of

          5  this project.  We have the expertise to advise on

          6  species and site selection, do landscape design, and

          7  we also have the experience to ensure that these

          8  trees become healthy members of our urban forests.

          9                 Parks and Recreation has received a

         10  $150,000 grant from the United States Forest

         11  Service, as part of a living memorial project, to

         12  memorialize the victims of September 11th.  This

         13  grant will allow us to construct memorial tree

         14  groves in partnership with various community groups

         15  throughout the City.  The groves will consist of

         16  groupings of signature trees, likely of similar and

         17  distinctive form and flower, as well as distinctive

         18  plaques, benches, and pathworks, if necessary and

         19  appropriate.

         20                 The first grove will be planted this

         21  fall in Brooklyn's Sunset Park, a site that

         22  overlooks Lower Manhattan. Parks and Recreation is

         23  also supporting landscape architect Topher Delany's

         24  concept of privately planting, and privately funding

         25  and planting 2,800 trees on streets throughout the
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          2  City.  The trees will be sited in geographically

          3  contiguous areas within each borough and will be

          4  easily identified by a distinctive tree guard.     Finally

          5  , Parks is considering planting where appropriate

          6  and possible two trees in front of or near Fire,

          7  Police, EMS, and Port Authority facilities.  Each

          8  planting would include two trees of the same

          9  species, possibly Bald Cypress, in a single enlarged

         10  tree pit, surrounded by a common tree guard.  This

         11  component would move ahead in concert with the

         12  relevant departments, that is, Fire, Police, EMS,

         13  and the Port Authority. Where there are no available

         14  locations for new tree plantings, but existing trees

         15  are available, a tree guard could be installed

         16  around existing trees to embrace those and make them

         17  part of this idea.

         18                 The "Freedom Trees" proposal could

         19  fit in with any of these initiatives.  The type of

         20  species chosen for the "Freedom Trees" would depend

         21  on the location and the type of memorial that it is

         22  incorporated into.  Certain species may be more

         23  appropriate for the memorial groves, while others

         24  may be suited for street trees.  All trees must be

         25  able to stand up to the tough urban environment in

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  New York, and the species must be resistant to the

          3  Asian Longhorned Beetle.

          4                 The species that Parks is considering

          5  for the living memorial groves are distinctive and

          6  unusual.  They have been selected for their

          7  hardiness in the urban area.  Species under

          8  consideration for the groves include white flowering

          9  trees, such as, Carolina Silver Bell,  Yellow Wood,

         10  Sour Wood, Dove Tree, Franklinea, and White

         11  Flowering Redbuds.

         12                 The cost of these planting programs

         13  will depend on the locations.  The estimated cost of

         14  a memorial grove is $75,000, if the grove is located

         15  within a park, and $50,000, if it is in a green

         16  street.  Sentinel Trees, that are, the two trees

         17  planted in front of the Police and Fire stations are

         18  estimated to cost about $2,500 per site.

         19                 While the U.S. Forest Service has

         20  supported the effort with a seed grant, we envision

         21  planting memorial groves and iconic (phonetic) trees

         22  across the City.  Funds for these projects will have

         23  to come from private sources and contributions.  We

         24  are still determining what organization would work

         25  in partnership, with us, to manage the grants and
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          2  private donations.

          3                 While the details of the plan are

          4  essentially in place, we cannot commit to a

          5  timetable until a plan has been formally adopted and

          6  funding is secured.  Moreover, we must confine our

          7  efforts to planting seasons, which run for

          8  approximately two months in the fall and the spring.

          9                 Parks and Recreation is pleased and

         10  honored to be part of the development of living

         11  memorials for victims of the September 11th attacks

         12  in partnerships with the City Council and other

         13  groups.  We look forward to working with you,

         14  corporate, non profit, and community partners, as

         15  well as representatives of families of the victims

         16  to make this proposed tribute to the victims of

         17  September 11th a reality.

         18                 I would be happy to try to answer any

         19  questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Before I get to

         21  questions from my colleagues, just, you had

         22  mentioned the planting of daffodils, and I had the

         23  pleasure of planting some daffodils last season.  I

         24  actually saw them come up during the spring.  When

         25  you drove down an area, and saw the daffodils come
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          2  up, you understood that the daffodils were planted

          3  for those who we lost, again, on 9/11.  That

          4  particular flower was identifiable to that

          5  unfortunate occurrence.            In our past, or

          6  prior conversations, we spoke about trees that,

          7  again, if planted when we see them in bloom, we

          8  would understand them to be "Freedom Trees".  Now,

          9  you had mentioned about four different types of

         10  trees, roughly.  Will there be one or two types

         11  picked out, or all four be considered, and all four

         12  be planted, depending on where and depending upon

         13  their endurance to the conditions or weather?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  There

         15  will be some variation, depending on the site.  But,

         16  our concept is to create groves of different types

         17  of trees.  There would be canopy trees, major trees,

         18  understory trees.  So, for example, the Yellow Wood,

         19  is a canopy tree.  It would be the major tree that

         20  would anchor a grove of trees.  Some of the other

         21  trees are smaller in stature, they flower at

         22  different times of the year, and it would present a

         23  grove rather than an individual or a signature tree.

         24    Again, we probably could not replicate that in

         25  each and every instance, but, in most places we
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          2  would probably do that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  So, just in

          4  theory, when you see a grove of trees in a

          5  particular place, you will --  the person should

          6  understand them to be as "Freedom Trees".

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:   Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  That is the

          9  idea.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  Any

         12  questions from any of my colleagues?  Council Member

         13  James Sanders.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you

         15  Mr. Chair.  I want to applaud you, of course, for

         16  having the foresight to bring this issue, this issue

         17  of freedom and the symbolization of it by "Freedom

         18  Trees" to this point.  So I certainly want to

         19  applaud you.

         20                 As you know, as everyone here knows,

         21  that this is the first proposal for a 9/11 memorial

         22  that has the support of the victims families.  We

         23  start with a very positive movement there, that we

         24  do not have to talk about a design.  That we do not

         25  have to talk about some of the larger issues that
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          2  are bogging down, seemingly bogging down, a process.

          3

          4                 But, ours is a more fun part of a way

          5  of really remembering good people, Patriots who

          6  perished, and we should do that in an expeditious

          7  fashion.  I want to commend the Parks Department,

          8  the conversations that we have had in days gone by

          9  have been fruitful.  No pun intended, of course.

         10  They have been fruitful, and I think that we are at

         11  a very strategic point, Sir, and that point is, when

         12  are we going to start planting?  We can figure and

         13  figure and figure, and we will be figuring until

         14  judgement day, seemingly.  After some point, you

         15  have to go with your best thinking.

         16                 Now, I am sure that there is a

         17  question of money involved, but, I believe that once

         18  people see trees actually being planted, it will be

         19  easier to get donations and contributions. When

         20  people see a thing, right now, it is not real.  It

         21  is as nebulous as a concept of freedom.  But, once

         22  we put seeds to ground, once we put roots to soil,

         23  we can re- route our own communities around the

         24  issues of freedom, around the issues of "Freedom

         25  Trees".  And especially around the issues of
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          2  remembering the bold people who perished on 9/11.

          3                 What day will we kick this off, Sir?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  The

          5  exact date is yet to be determined, however, we will

          6  plant the first living memorial grove in Sunset

          7  Park, during the first two weeks in November.

          8                 We are a little bit at the mercy of

          9  nature.  Fiona was down a week or so ago, selecting

         10  the trees for that particular grove.  The nurseries

         11  won't dig the trees until all the leaves have fallen

         12  off, which should take place in the next week to ten

         13  days. Once the trees are dug, we can transport them

         14  to the Park, and build a grove.  So, it will happen

         15  in the first two weeks in November.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Well, I

         17  commend you on that.

         18                 We have a fairly firm date.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  And I think

         21  that now it is a question of letting freedom ring.

         22  Now, it is a question of planting, and

         23  memorializing.  We should, of course, let --  I am

         24  sure the Parks Department will, but, I suspect we

         25  have a enterprising newspaper, that if the Parks
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          2  needs a hand a hand is willing to do that.  And we

          3  on the Council, of course, will do everything that

          4  we can.  I am sure our Chair feels the same.  To

          5  make this the biggest kick- off that we possibly

          6  can.

          7                 Mr. Chair, thank you.  I do not want

          8  to abuse this. Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         10  Council Member Sanders.  I would, obviously, like to

         11  join my colleague in his enthusiasm for the planting

         12  of these trees.  And obviously, we want to promote

         13  them in a very positive light.  A light in which

         14  they should be promoted, and obviously, we want to

         15  spread that enthusiasm throughout the City,

         16  regarding the planting of these "Freedom Trees.

         17                 Council Member Helen Sears.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 Although I am not on the Committee, I

         21  appreciate being able to sit in on that.

         22                 I echo, I think you have done a

         23  wonderful job, and it is an exciting thing to do

         24  this.

         25                 I just have a question.  You said
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          2  they would cost about $2,500 to plant two trees in a

          3  single pit, in front of Firehouses, or Police, or

          4  the Port Authority.  I do not know how many

          5  firehouses there are in the City of New York, but it

          6  would seem that every firehouse in, as I think of

          7  where mine are in my district, they certainly cannot

          8  be right in front of the firehouse, but certainly,

          9  adjacent to it.  And if every firehouse were to have

         10  these trees, and it goes back to what Councilman

         11  Sanders raised. Will there be a problem if the

         12  communities, themselves, because this could be

         13  expensive, I mean, as I said, I do not know how many

         14  firehouses there are, if communities were to

         15  generate this enthusiasm, and contribute as time

         16  went on, whatever they chose to do, is there a

         17  problem doing that?  And I think we could probably

         18  enlist our esteemed publisher, perhaps, to generate

         19  that enthusiasm, in some articles.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  No, it is our

         21  intention that these planting projects be supported

         22  with private donations, and we hope, and expect,

         23  that the public will participate in a very real way

         24  in creating these memorials.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Because, I
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          2  would like to see them in front of every firehouse.

          3  I think every firehouse has had a sensitivity to

          4  whether they were affected or not.  And where they

          5  are located, everybody, somehow, gets near the

          6  firehouse.  So I think it would be a very fine

          7  remembrance.

          8                 So, I thank you.  Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

         11  Council Member Sears.

         12                 A further question on the cost of the

         13  trees, in this time of fiscal need for the City,

         14  there is obviously a concern of the cost of the

         15  trees, and how funding will be appropriated to

         16  acquire the trees, and ultimately plant them.  What

         17  are the plans from the Department of Parks and

         18  Recreation on funding the trees?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  The

         20  living memorial groves, the concept will be kicked

         21  off with the grant we received from the U.S. Forest

         22  Service, so, we have seed money to start that

         23  particular facet of this proposal.

         24                 With the Sentinel Trees, the trees in

         25  front of the Police and Fire Stations, we are hoping
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          2  to generate enough public interest to raise private

          3  money to support that effort.

          4                 Clearly, the City is facing a massive

          5  budget deficit.  It would be very difficult for us

          6  to undertake such an expensive program, within our

          7  existing budget right now.

          8                 We think, and we've received interest

          9  from many different quarters about creating

         10  memorials to memorialize the victims of the World

         11  Trade Center attacks, and by creating this vehicle

         12  for people to participate, we think we will be able

         13  to raise significant amounts of money to get this

         14  project underway.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  And the cost

         16  would also include, obviously, the maintenance and

         17  upkeep of the trees, even in the future, as well,

         18  right?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  Council

         21  Member Jose Serrano.  Is he here?  No.

         22                 Council Member Erik Dilan.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Mr. Chairman,

         24  I just have one brief  question.  And it is for Mr.

         25  Kavanaugh.  Has there been any discussion, and I
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          2  know the administration, as well as the Council, is

          3  limited as far as the memorial section of the

          4  redevelopment of the World Trade Center.  But, has

          5  there been any discussion as to making these Liberty

          6  Trees a part of whatever memorial goes in the

          7  redevelopment?  I just think it would be a good idea

          8  to do, and I just was wondering if there was any

          9  discussion in that regard?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Not

         11  directly.  There have been a number of concepts put

         12  forth for the redevelopment of the World Trade

         13  Center site, and Lower Manhattan, in general.  Some

         14  of them include creating a promenade along West

         15  Street, that would be lined with trees.  I think,

         16  intended as memorials to the victims.  But, as you

         17  all know, that is a very complex process, and a

         18  difficult decision to make in deciding what the

         19  memorial will take.  We have not injected our ideas

         20  into that yet.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you.  I

         22  am sorry, when we talk about groves, the idea of

         23  where these groves are going to be, and roughly how

         24  many in number?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Well,
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          2  our original concepts, we thought that we would

          3  plant them in parks that have view of Lower

          4  Manhattan.  There are surprisingly many throughout

          5  the City, that allow a view of Lower Manhattan.

          6  But, it does not have to be limited to that initial,

          7  sort of, view of what the Park should be, what the

          8  groves should be rather.  There are lots of parks

          9  around the City, which could certainly benefit from

         10  having a new grove of trees installed, and where

         11  people could feel an affinity to the victims of the

         12  World Trade Center attack.

         13                 So, we are not limited in any way.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I am happy to

         15  hear that.  If a certain neighborhood wanted a

         16  certain amount of grove planted, obviously, the

         17  final determination of where and when to plant is,

         18  obviously, the Department of Parks and Recreation.

         19  But, would you entertain the idea of community input

         20  on where these groves might be, or where these trees

         21  might be, and when they could be planted?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  Thank

         24  you.

         25                 Any other questions from my
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          2  colleagues?  Seeing no other questions,

          3  Commissioner, I appreciate your time.  Fiona, I

          4  greatly appreciate your time.  To Parks and

          5  Recreation, I appreciate their time and testimony

          6  today.  And regards to the Commissioner.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Thank

          8  you, you're welcome.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  At this point,

         10  we will hear our testimony from our next speaker,

         11  Miss Victoria Schneps.

         12                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Is that the one with

         13  Jim Sanders picture on the front?  I know you like

         14  this one best.  Well, we're very proud, and I am

         15  delighted to be here today.  Thank you for letting

         16  me have this opportunity.

         17                 As the publisher of the Queens

         18  Courier chain of newspapers, I am very humbled by

         19  having the opportunity to have come up with the

         20  idea, by my staff, to, in fact, do these "Freedom

         21  Trees", that are now, I see, being called "Liberty

         22  Trees.  We do not mind the change of name from

         23   "Freedom Trees", to "Liberty Trees".  And we did

         24  start with an editorial in our newspapers, which I

         25  would like to submit, rather than read, so, talking
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          2  about the idea of having these trees in our

          3  neighborhoods.  And I am appreciative that

          4  Commissioner Kavanaugh suggested that they be inside

          5  the parks.  But, in fact, many of our readers have

          6  requested that they be in the neighborhoods, where

          7  the people lived, who were lost.  And as well, as

          8  you may know, many of them were firefighters.  But,

          9  some of them were just plain citizens, who were lost

         10  going to work.  As there work was different than the

         11  Police, or the Fire, or the EMS workers.

         12                 So, we would like to be in the

         13  forefront of reaching out to all of the communities

         14  of Queens, since our weekly newspapers reach every

         15  community in Queens.  And to be able to potentially

         16  run a barometer from each of the different

         17  neighborhoods, and to raise the money right in our

         18  backyard.  I was a little shocked when you said

         19  $2,500 to plant two trees?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  That

         21  includes the tree guard in a large tree pit, and an

         22  icon (phonetic).

         23                 MS. SCHNEPS:  A plaque, yes.  Do you

         24  think there might be another cost effective way to

         25  be able to plant this--
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Yeah, just

          3  direct your testimony here and then we will --

          4                 MS. SCHNEPS:  I am sorry.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: --  just direct

          6  your testimony to the Committee.

          7                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Oh, okay.  One of my

          8  concerns would be the cost because we have lost

          9  literally thousands of people.

         10                 And I had been under the impression

         11  that a Prince of Monaco had, in fact, offered to

         12  fund some of these trees.  Is that something that is

         13  a reality?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  That is

         15  something that we have heard.  That there was a golf

         16  outing, out in his area, in Monaco, and we are

         17  following up on that.

         18                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Because that certainly

         19  would be wonderful to have an international reach

         20  for these trees.  But I do believe that the hearts

         21  of our readers, in our communities, would be wanting

         22  to see these trees in the neighborhoods, where these

         23  people lived.  And I would like to recommend, that

         24  there be a thrust to, in fact, plant these trees in

         25  a way that is right, touchable almost, and almost
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          2  can be cared for by the people in the neighborhoods.

          3    And using either the Firehouses, or the Police

          4  Department, or the different communities that have a

          5  location that we can designate for this.

          6                 I am on the Board of the Bayside

          7  Business Association, and as soon as they heard

          8  about the "Freedom Trees", they wanted to donate

          9  money to plant one, or more, in Bayside for those

         10  lost in Bayside.  So that we can be doing this

         11  across our Borough, and hopefully across our City.

         12  To make it very personal, and that was our original

         13  concept.  To really make it, as we put in our

         14  newspaper, something that is remembered from the

         15  Shorefront Parkway to Bell Boulevard to Flatbush

         16  Avenue to Highland Boulevard, right in the

         17  neighborhoods.  And I respect the idea of having it

         18  in the parks.  But, I know, also that my readership

         19  has spoken about wanting to have it right in their

         20  backyard, literally, on the front step.  Not in

         21  their backyard, I meant, literally in their, in the

         22  forefront of their neighborhoods, rather than in a

         23  park setting. And that might make it more

         24  realistically, from a cost effective perspective,

         25  for neighborhoods to be able to raise the money,
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          2  when it is done in a regular bed, as a one tree

          3  installation.

          4                 So, I thank you very much for giving

          5  me the opportunity of coming here today, and I hope

          6  that we can see this coming to fruition.  And we,

          7  selfishly, since the Queens Couriers were the ones

          8  who came up with the idea of having the first

          9  planting in Queens County.  But, we will be

         10  delighted to see them being planted.  And I think

         11  that is really the goal.

         12                 So, I do thank you and the Councilman

         13  Jim Sanders, and yourself, Joe Addabbo, and Helen,

         14  who are in Queens, who have helped us with this

         15  idea.  And Hillary Clinton who jumped on board, and

         16  State Senator Schumer, to believe that this project

         17  is worthy of whatever expense it has to be.  But we

         18  would like to see it by a grassroots movement.  And

         19  we and our newspapers will support that

         20  wholeheartedly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you, Ms.

         22  Schneps.

         23                 Before I get to any questions from my

         24  colleagues, first, I would like thank you, for

         25  obviously, rekindling the idea of the old "Liberty
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          2  Trees", into today what we are calling the "Freedom

          3  Trees".

          4                 From the outset of our discussions

          5  with the Department of Parks and Recreation, it was

          6  good to see that the idea of a "Freedom Tree", to

          7  become a reality of trees being planted either

          8  singularly or in groves throughout the City.  And to

          9  hear today, that the Department of Parks and

         10  Recreation will undertake, hopefully by this fall,

         11  to start with the first planting.  But, also, in the

         12  future, listen to the community or take input from

         13  the community on where trees will be planted. Again,

         14  I think that is very reassuring and to eventually

         15  see these groves and these trees being planted

         16  throughout the City, is something that we can hardly

         17  wait for.  So, we greatly will appreciate that day,

         18  and appreciate your efforts as well.

         19                 At this point, we have a question

         20  from Council Member James Sanders.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair.

         23                 I, too, want to applaud your

         24  crusading newspaper for staying with this issue

         25  until it takes root, and springs forth in New York
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          2  City, not simply the City.  This is a concept that

          3  is good for the nation, indeed, the international

          4  community lost heroes on 9/11.  So, this idea if

          5  properly warded, can take root in many parts of the

          6  world.  I think that what the Parks Department is

          7  doing is fantastic.  I think that they have

          8  something there. However, I do not think that these

          9  ideas are mutually exclusive. I think that we may be

         10  able to, imagine, if there were a bold and

         11  courageous newspaper out there.  Just imagine

         12  especially if there were one in Queens.  If there

         13  were one in Queens, imagine that they started

         14  calling for donations, now, imagine that we would

         15  test the waters.

         16                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  We would see

         18  what response we got from the citizens of New York

         19  City.  From the very people around us, and we can

         20  perhaps aid this effort.  Maybe if we buy these

         21  trees using the market, and I do not mean the one

         22  that is failing right now.  Maybe if we buy this

         23  stuff in bulk, we can reduce the prices of these

         24  trees and still get the best deal.  I suspect that

         25  the Parks Department knows about that, but, who says
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          2  that we, too, cannot water the tree of Liberty?  So

          3  I am very anxious to work with you on that, to see

          4  what we can do, and not find ourselves simply

          5  waiting while the Parks Department does their good

          6  work.  But, perhaps, we can do some things to aid

          7  the Parks Department in being creative, imaginative,

          8  and have this as close to people's homes, and as

          9  close to the home of the people who perished.

         10                 MS. SCHNEPS:  That is right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  As we

         12  possibly can.

         13                 MS. SCHNEPS:  That is right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 MS. SCHNEPS:  That was our original

         17  concept, to have it right by the homes of the people

         18  who were lost.  And the Queens Courier Newspapers,

         19  will come out this coming week, with a call for

         20  donations.  I know that my own neighborhood, where I

         21  have my offices, in Bayside, Queens, immediately

         22  responded.  And I think if they felt that way, I

         23  think, our entire Borough would feel that way, and

         24  potentially our City.  So, we would be delighted to

         25  take up your suggestion, and carry the gauntlet to
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          2  show the very much grassroots concern for having

          3  these trees planted in their neighborhoods.  And to

          4  be able to begin that campaign.  I love to buy

          5  things wholesale.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  If I can Mr.

          7  Chair?  If I can?  Let me seize the opportunity and

          8  say that I am going to give the first donation,

          9  first contribution.

         10                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Oh, terrific.  Okay.

         11  We got it.

         12                 But, we really have to know what a

         13  tree really costs, not $2,500.  I am hoping that we

         14  can get it at a better price.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         16  Council Member Sanders, and while you are writing

         17  checks out, no, no.

         18                 One other aspect that we like to

         19  explore is with the media.  You know, with the local

         20  newspapers, the daily's, radio and TV, I think the

         21  media plays a large part in this.  Obviously, with

         22  the idea of the "Freedom Trees", but also, as we go

         23  on to planting and obviously, the sites, I think the

         24  media, should obviously, look forward to reporting

         25  on these "Freedom Trees" periodically.  Where the
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          2  sites are, where future sites will be, and I think

          3  that helps spread the enthusiasm of these "Freedom

          4  Trees" throughout the City.             And I know,

          5  we could speak to our colleagues throughout the City

          6  Council to, obviously, work along with the local

          7  papers, and the media as well to, again, spread the

          8  enthusiasm, and the interest in these "Freedom

          9  Trees".  And residents should know where these trees

         10  are or where these trees would be in the future.

         11  So, I think that is where the media plays a part in

         12  that, as well.

         13                 Any other questions, at this point?

         14                 MS. SCHNEPS:  We will be delighted to

         15  do both, to ask our readers to suggest sites.

         16                 We would like to be able to have a

         17  handle on how much, because some may want to plant a

         18  tree themselves, in memory of the person lost.  If

         19  we have some way of getting a better handle on what

         20  an individual tree might cost to purchase.  And if

         21  there is a way for the City to say, if we pay for

         22  the tree, would they do the planting and the

         23  maintenance, if we pay for the tree?  So, if they

         24  have that, we would save them the cost of buying the

         25  tree. But, certainly, they are the best ones in
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          2  knowing how to plant it properly, so that it

          3  survives.  And I know, they do have watering trucks

          4  that go around the City to water individual trees

          5  that have been planted, so that they would survive

          6  during droughts.  And maybe, these trees be part of

          7  that group of trees that are planted, that are

          8  watered regularly.

          9                 So, I would like to put that proposal

         10  in, as well. So, if we can somehow come up with a

         11  number, that becomes something that we could say,

         12  specifically, within a range, it would be helpful to

         13  people.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.

         15  Obviously, the issue of cost and the issue of

         16  continuing the idea of "Freedom Trees", that is

         17  something we entertained in earlier testimony.  And

         18  that is an idea, obviously, as we face budget cuts,

         19  now and in the future, possibly, that is, obviously,

         20  going to be an issue that, obviously, today being

         21  the first piece of testimony, today, the first

         22  hearing on this matter.  This is not the end of the

         23  discussion of "Freedom Trees", obviously, there are

         24  certain details that need to be ironed out, as well.

         25     So, we will, obviously, continue the discussion
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          2  and the dialogue.

          3                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Okay.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Council Member

          5  Helen Sears.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Just for

          7  clarification, I was not sure when you say that you

          8  have --  that the people may wish to plant their own

          9  tree.

         10                 MS. SCHNEPS:  I mean pay for the

         11  tree.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Oh, okay.

         13                 MS. SCHNEPS:  I do not think we

         14  should let people go around planting trees.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  No, that is

         16  what I wanted clarified.  Because it really should

         17  be done through the Parks Department, that really

         18  knows how to do this, would have their pulse, in

         19  what is done.  That is why I wanted clarification.

         20                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Oh yes, thank you,

         21  absolutely.  Can I put into the record, I do not

         22  want to read the whole thing, our editorial that we

         23  had written, which started the launch of this, and

         24  just put it into you for the public record.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  If you give it
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          2  the committee here, we will put it into the record.

          3                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Okay, thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Not a problem.

          5  We have been joined by my colleagues, Council Member

          6  Gale Brewer, and Council Member Jose Serrano.  Good

          7  to see you both.

          8                 There being no other questions, no

          9  other questions. Vicky, Ms. Schneps, thank you very

         10  much for your testimony today.

         11                 MS. SCHNEPS:  Thank you.  My

         12  pleasure.  Thanks for having me.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay, while we

         14  wait for a couple of our colleagues to come in from

         15  the other room, I will just let everybody know that

         16  our next Parks and Recreation Committee meeting will

         17  be on November 19th, at 10 a.m.  I believe in this

         18  room, and the agenda item will be forwarded.

         19                 I would also like to take this moment

         20  to thank Frank Neely, our Legislative Analyst, and

         21  Jeff Haberman, our Legal Counsel.

         22                 And I would like to introduce to

         23  everybody our new Legal Counsel, being introduced

         24  today as many of you just found out, Tom Curry.  So,

         25  Tom, welcome to the Parks and Recreation Committee.
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          2  Yep, there you go.

          3                 At this point, we will entertain

          4  Resolution 318, introduced by my colleague, James

          5  Sanders.  Sponsored by myself, Council Members

          6  Gennaro, Gerson, Gioia, Comrie, Baez, Barron,

          7  Boyland, Brewer, Clarke, Davis, DeBlasio, Dilan,

          8  Felder, Jackson, Katz, Liu, Martinez, Monserrate,

          9  Nelson, Recchia, Reyna, Rivera, Sears, Serrano,

         10  Stewart, Vann, Quinn, Gallagher, Golden, Lanza, and

         11  Oddo, and also, Council Member Seabrook.

         12                 The resolution calls upon the City of

         13  New York to invoke the spirit of the historic

         14   "Liberty Trees" by planting "Freedom Trees" in the

         15  neighborhoods throughout the City to honor the

         16  memories of the men and women who died in the

         17  September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks on the World

         18  Trade Center.

         19                 At this point, if we call the roll

         20  call for the Committee, for a vote.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Brewer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Dilan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Foster.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:   Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Jackson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Absolutely,

          7  yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Serrano.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The vote stands at 6

         11  in the affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no

         12  abstentions, and the vote will remain open.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         14  much.  Again, I appreciate everyone's time here

         15  today.  There you go.  Council Member Sanders, thank

         16  you.

         17                 Again, our next meeting for the Parks

         18  and Recreation Committee is on November 19th, at 10

         19  a.m.

         20                 Thank you very much everyone.  Have a

         21  good day.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         23  Golden.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:  I vote, Aye,

         25  on this glorious day, that the City of New York has
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          2  come together in doing something really fantastic

          3  for the lost brothers and sisters of 9/11.  And I

          4  think this is a great tribute, and a great day for

          5  The Parks Department, for the City of New York, for

          6  our Mayor, and God bless you.  I vote, Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The vote is now 7 in

          8  the affirmative, 0 in the negative, no abstentions,

          9  and will remain open.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gerson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The vote is now

         13  stands at 8 in the affirmative, 0 in the negative,

         14  and no abstentions.  The item is adopted.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 2:00 p.m.)
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